



Toolkit for the development and implementation of epidemiological surveys in small populations



Table of Contents

1. Preface	
2. Aim of toolkit	
3. What is a health survey?	
4. Preparation for the health survey	
2.1 Survey team	
2.2 Budgeting and sponsorships	
2.3 Defining the population	7
2.3.1 Target population	7
	8
2.3.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria	9
2.4 Survey preparation	
2.4.1 Questionnaire	
2.4.3 Permissions and ethical approval	
2.5 Fieldwork preparation	
2.5.1 Pilot survey	
2.5.2 Recruitment and training	
2.5.3 Marketing	
2.6 Fieldwork	
5. Extraction of data	
6. Reporting	10

Disclaimer: This toolkit is published by the Islands and Small States Institute of the University of Malta, which is a WHO Collaborating Centre; it is not a publication of the World Health Organization. The authors are responsible for the views expressed in this publication, and the views do not necessarily represent the decisions or policies of the World Health Organization.

Toolkit for the development and implementation of epidemiological surveys in small populations

Dr. Sarah Cuschieri¹, Prof. Neville Calleja²³ and Prof. Julian Mamo³

1. Preface

This toolkit is published by the Islands and Small States Institute of the University of Malta as part of its work carried out as WHO Collaborating Centre on Health Systems and Policies in Small States. Under the coordination of **Dr. Natasha Azzopardi Muscat**, the WHO Collaborating Centre carries out activities that support the development of frameworks and policies for strengthening the resilience of health systems in small state.

Dr. Sarah Cuschieri qualified as a medical doctor in 2011. She studied for a postgraduate Diploma and Masters in Diabetes Mellitus type 2 at the Cardiff University, Wales, between 2012 and 2015. After completing her medical training in 2013, she took up a full-time academic and research career at the University of Malta. In 2019, she completed her PhD studies focusing on the "Burden of Diabetes Mellitus Type 2, dysglycaemia and their co-determinants in the adult population of Malta".

Prof. Neville Calleja qualified as a medical doctor in 1999 and proceeded to study Medical Statistics and Public Health after his medical training. He qualified as a specialist in public health medicine in 2006 and completed his PhD studies in 2013 on the statistical correction of misclassification of disease status between self-reported and examined health surveys. He currently holds the position of director at the Health

¹ Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Medicine & Surgery

² Director of Health Information & Research Directorate, Ministry of Health

³ Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine & Surgery

Information and Research directorate, Ministry of Health. He is also an associate professor with the Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine and Surgery.

Prof. Julian Mamo entered Public Health after his MD studies in 1984. He worked at the Nutrition Department within the Ministry of Health, Malta before studying for a Masters of Science degree in Epidemiology at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, University of London. In 2004, he concluded his research PhD on Ageing and Health with King's College London and was subsequently more involved with the Department of Public Health, University of Malta, where he continues to work as Head of Department since 2006.

2. Aim of toolkit

The aim of this toolkit is to illustrate the epidemiological theory underlying the conduction of health surveys in small states or regions.

3. What is a health survey?

A health survey is usually the collection of new health-related data as part of an observational research study that is conducted to measure the prevalence of health problems, risk factors, health behaviours, as well and other determinants of health (such as socioeconomic status within a specific population). Such a survey can have an analytical (exposure-outcome relationship), as well as a purely descriptive aim. The carrying out of such a study requires close attention to: the study design, case definition, the participants' selection, the inclusion of controls, valid tools of measurement, the measurement of exposure/s, outcome/s and potential confounders, along with robust data analysis ¹.

There are different types of observational studies. The more common type is the crosssectional study with a strong descriptive element, while the case-control and longitudinal cohort studies have a more analytical scope.

- A cross-sectional study collects information at one point in time from a defined population. Such a study can provide useful descriptive information in the form of prevalence rates (frequency of exposure/outcome). It could also provide analytic information, where an association between the outcome and potential exposures are investigated. This type of study is relatively easy to conduct and repeat in small populations. Regular cross-sectional randomised studies at a population level can provide invaluable health information on trends of exposure and outcomes. However, selection bias can occur, and temporal relationships cannot be assessed given the retrospective nature of data collection.
- A case-control study explores retrospectively the exposure between a cohort with a disease (cases) and (ideally matched) individuals from the same population without the disease (controls). However, selection bias can occur, and temporal relationships between the exposure and outcome cannot be assessed. Confounding bias can often be accounted for in this study, as long as all potential confounding factors are known and measured. Additionally, this methodology lends itself to various forms of information bias, prominent among which is recall bias.
- A longitudinal cohort study measures the incidence rate of a particular exposure/disease by following up a selection of a population over a period of time. This requires a baseline measurement (and exclusion of the outcome condition at the onset of the study) with a follow up for new incident cases of outcome/s over the specified period of time. Such studies can explore temporal relationships between the exposure and the outcome. However, these are expensive and take a long time to be completed with expected participants withdrawal throughout the follow-up period. These limitations can seriously threaten the survey feasibility and validity

The type of survey conducted will depend on the intended outcome

(descriptive/analytical) and other practical considerations, such as available resources and time.

4. Preparation for the health survey

2.1 Survey team

A team should be put together to assume responsibility of the health survey. The core members of the team should be composed as follows:

- Project leader Planning and overall coordination of the survey from beginning to end.
- Epidemiological support and advice May be provided on an ad hoc basis.
- Statistical officer Sampling of the survey population, analysis of the survey data and drawing up of reports
- Financial officer Preparation of the initial budget and financial management
- Administrative staff Coordination of interviewers and supervisors during the fieldwork period
- Interviewers Responsible for the collection of data from interviewees using the validated tool
- Supervisors Monitor the interviewer's work and aid them as required. Usually there can be up to 10 interviewers per one supervisor

2.2 Budgeting and sponsorships

Budgeting for health surveys should be performed at the early phases in order to ensure adequate funding from sponsorships. A detailed budget should be drawn up alongside a Gantt chart. The budget should include, but is not limited to ²:

• Staff costs (individualised by skill and per time unit spent)

- Interviewer and supervisor costs (typically defined per successfully completed questionnaire)
- Telephone costs
- Communication, dissemination and publicity of the health survey
- Printing costs of forms, questionnaires and reports
- Hardware & software costs, including electronic survey tool (if any), scanner/mark reader software (if any) & statistical package e.g. SPSS, R, STATA, SAS.
- Laboratory investigation costs (if health examination survey)
- Equipment e.g. Weighing scales; sphygmomanometers; peak-flow meters, etc. (if health examination survey)
- A 10% addition for incidental expenses that is usually used to the full

In order to promote participation, small incentives are sometimes provided to the respondents who completed the survey. Such incentives, such as discount vouchers for goods or services, small items such as dried fruit portions or toiletries, may be provided by sponsors in sufficient quantities to cover the whole sample population. Larger items, such as flights or weekend breaks, can be used as lottery prizes. These incentives act as a token of appreciation to the respondents. However, lottery prizes may require regulatory clearance and may be subject to taxation in certain countries³.

2.3 Defining the population

2.3.1 Target population

The target population for health examination surveys among adults typically includes the country's permanent residents between the ages of 25 and 64 years. This age group is the most amenable to interventions intended to prevent future disease and disability. On the other hand, health interview surveys typically include all adults above the age of 18, including the elderly especially when assessing functional capacity². Health information on children is also important, in which case the health

survey tool and methodology typically need to be modified extensively to cover this sub-population, which is most amendable to preventive activities. In this case using school-based surveys may also be more efficient.

2.3.2 Sample population

Health surveys conducted in small countries or regions need to cover a greater proportion of the population to ensure enough statistical power for the survey to produce accurate estimates, as this depends on the number of actual respondents³. Unfortunately, this presents a challenge for small countries as it results in a higher cost per capita to conduct a national survey. However, in small countries a single-staged sampling procedure is utilised, unlike in larger countries where two-stage sampling is required to keep the survey geographically feasible. When a single-stage sample (randomly stratified by age, gender and locality) is drawn and used, the survey will be able to cover the entire population without major logistic difficulties. The sample size required would be smaller than that of the two-stage sampling, since the latter is subject to a design effect of 1.5⁴. The country's expected response rate needs be taken into consideration when calculating the required sample population size from national registers. If the expected response rate is low, it is suggested to enhance the resources to increase the response rate, rather than increase the total sample size. When an elderly population is to be included in the sample population, it is recommended to increase the sample probabilities of this sub-group. This applies also to other small population groups of interest, such as migrants 5 . The European Health Examination Survey (EHES) provides a specific sampling application tool that can be used to estimate the population sample size required for a health examination survey (ehes.info/rc/tools/tools.htm). Obviously, any differential probability sampling would require weighting to be applied before carrying out any analysis. The possibility of serious respondent bias is always present and seriously undermines validity when the response rate is low.

2.3.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The inclusion and exclusion criteria are dependent on the country. It is, however, suggested that the sample population should be representative of the whole residents (more than 6 months residency) of that country. Where possible, institutionalised persons and immigrants should be included in the national survey. Whilst their numbers are unlikely to be large enough to allow the analysis of their replies as a subgroup, some prevalence estimates can be materially affected. Ethical and practical issues may be present for institutionalised persons, since these are usually elderly with limited cognitive functioning, requiring certain questions to be omitted for institutionalised individuals⁶. In such cases, special protocols or extra resources (e.g. provision of interpreters or home visits) may be required ⁵. Difficulties may arise in some countries when sampling non-citizens living permanently in that country, such as major language barriers. Other linguistic versions of the questionnaire may have to be prepared. In this case, what is typically recommended by most health survey guidelines is conceptual translation ⁷. Females happening to be pregnant at the time of the survey are typically excluded from participating in health examination surveys since the anthropometric and biological parameters may be altered from the norm.

2.4 Survey preparation

Health surveys provide tangible benefits to a country by identifying the needs for targeted actions and thus enable the utilization of resources efficiently ³. Information at population-level is crucial for evidence-based health policy decisions and research ⁸. Health surveys should be planned and standardized between small countries in order to enable comparisons of health risks and health information.

Health surveys can be classified into two types, namely, health interview surveys (HIS) and health examination surveys (HES). Data collection for HIS is carried out through self-reported questionnaires, whether self-administered or interview-based, and can measure health behaviours, health status and diseases that are known to the

respondent. Unlike HES, HIS cannot provide any information on undiagnosed conditions and is prone to report bias, especially when covering factual questions, such as weight and height, leading to inaccurate obesity prevalence. HIS is also subject to culture-based preferences when reporting on health problems ^{2,9}. A health examination survey is composed of a health examination for different anthropometric and biological parameters, including the collection of biological samples, and is accompanied with a questionnaire for socio-demographic data. Health interview surveys are much cheaper to conduct than health examination surveys, since the latter require more personnel training and specialist clinical investigations ¹⁰.

2.4.1 Questionnaire

Health surveys should be based on validated questionnaires in the native language of the population under study. There are a number of validated questionnaires covering a range of health-related topics that can be adapted to other populations. One example is the European Health Interview Survey that can be used to collect data on health status, health care use and health determinants

(ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-manuals-and-guidelines/-/KS-RA-13-018), while the demographic health survey (DHS) can be used to collect demographic data (dhsprogram.com), especially in countries wherein here are no birth or death registries. The World Health Organization (WHO) also provides a step-by-step questionnaire (STEPS) that can be used for risk factor surveillance of noncommunicable diseases (who.int/ncds/surveillance/steps/instrument/en/). The European community respiratory health survey II provides validated questions covering respiratory health (ecrhs.org/Quests/ECRHSIImainquestionnaire.pdf). The global adult tobacco survey (GATS) is a WHO validated tool used for surveys covering tobacco habit (who.int/tobacco/surveillance/tqs/en/) while the global physical activity questionnaire (GPAQ) is a tool for measurement of physical activity (who.int/ncds/surveillance/steps/resources/GPAQ_Analysis_Guide.pdf). The Katz Index of independence in activity of daily living (chroniccare.rehab.washington.edu/westernwa/geriatrics/resources/katzindeptest. pdf) can be used to measure the ability of the participant's ability to perform independently daily living activities. The European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs (ESPAD) tool is used to collect data on substance use among 15 – and 16-year-old students (espad.org), while the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) tool is used to collect data on 11-, 13- and 15- year boys' and girls' health and well-being, social environments and health behaviours (hbsc.org). The WHO European Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative (COSI) tool is used to measure overweight and obesity among primary school aged children (euro.who.int/en/healthtopics/disease-prevention/nutrition/activities/who-european-childhood-obesitysurveillance-initiative-cosi).

It is important that the questionnaire is acceptable and shows sensitivity towards LGBTIQ individuals and any minorities, both in the way traditional gender questions are formulated and, even more importantly, in sexual health modules.

Sensitive questions, such as sexual related questions, should be self-administered by the respondent in an anonymous manner. Such sensitive questions may include the use of alcohol, smoking and any illicit drugs. Also, any questions that may cause any embarrassment to the respondent and are therefore at risk of desirability bias should be included in a self-administered tool, such as questions of a financial nature that request information on salary and financial standing. A minor word of note – in a number of populations, such as in the Maltese population, asking about income using income deciles or quintiles generated from another source resulted in a higher response rate than simply asking the respondent to provide a value for income.

Questionnaires are usually available in the English language. Translation to the native language may be required but the tool needs to be conceptually equivalent to the original form. Specific guidelines on how to construct such translations are outlined by EUROSTAT for the European health interview survey report ⁷. In this case back translation and cultural adaptation are usually considered.

2.4.1.1 Mode of delivery

The questionnaire can be conducted in various modes including dissemination through mail, online, through telephone interviews and face-to-face interviews. In both the telephone and face-to-face interview modes the questions are delivered by trained interviewers with support from both coordination and technical personnel. Face-toface interviews are customarily conducted at a place of convenience for the participant, including their place of residence. It is important that a unique code is provided for each questionnaire, which code may be linked to one's personal details and be accessible to the project leader.

2.4.2 Health examination

Health examination surveys (HES) are required to establish accurate physical health information data as well as to assess undiagnosed conditions. A standardized protocol across countries is required in order to provide accurate and comparable HES results. Such surveys require standardised measurement protocols and devices as well as training of survey personnel along with adequate quality control ⁹. Utilising common definitions of indicators would enable comparisons between countries and benchmarking ^{11,12}. Standardization should also be implemented to the seasonal and diurnal timings of the health survey. The timing of the examination is known to affect not only participation rates but also physical examination results. Ideally health surveys should cover all seasons and last at least a year to avoid seasonal bias. Appointment flexibility throughout the week for participation in the health examination survey increases the respondents response rate ¹³. A national representative survey conducted in the small European country of Malta reported that appointments scheduled during the weekends were for some even more acceptable by the participants. Furthermore, early appointments (between 7am and 8am) were favoured by over 50 years respondents, while later appointments (8.30am to 9.30am) were favoured by the younger population ¹⁴. Additionally, in most countries, conducting the health survey fieldwork during the summer holidays may lower the

response rate as would fieldwork conducted during the Christmas period, mostly because of unavailability of respondents in their usual place of residence.

2.4.2.1 Health exam protocol

The European Health Examination Survey (EHES) provides a detailed manual on such a measurements' protocol, including examples of validated tools of measure (**julkari.fi/handle/10024/131503**)¹³. Similarly, the WHO provides a protocol for non-communicable risk surveillance (WHO Stepwise approach) that can be adopted by countries ¹⁵.

According to the EHES, the core physical measurements that should be included in health examination surveys are height, weight, waist circumference, blood pressure, blood lipids, fasting blood glucose and glycated haemoglobin (HbA1C) apart from a questionnaire capturing self-reported information. These core measurements contribute to major chronic disease risk factors and are not readily available from other sources unless physically measured ⁹. It is imperative that the trained measurers follow a standardised protocol when measuring and recording physical measurements, such as recording blood pressure accurately and not rounding up to the nearest whole number. Such protocols are detailed in the EHES manual ¹³.

2.4.2.1.1 Setting a health examination site

A single or multiple health examination site/s should be set up in close residential proximity to the randomly selected sample population. In small countries these sites are easier to set up when compared to larger countries as the total number required is typically small and such sites may be under the control of a central authority. Getting access to some office space within primary care centres in the community could be an example. It was reported that establishing satellite hubs within all the towns of the

small state of Malta led to a good response rate ¹⁴. The EHES manual provides details on selection of examination sites ¹³.

2.4.2.1.2 Tools of measurement

The tools of measure (such as sphygmomanometer) should be validated tools, as outlined within the EHES manual ¹³. These tools should be mobile to enable transportation from one hub to another if multiple hubs are to be set up. If a number of trained fieldworkers are recruited, simultaneous health examination sessions could be set up at different localities. In this case a number of identical validated tools of measurements are required. The tools need to be calibrated and tested prior to initiation of the health examination sessions and repeated subsequently.

2.4.2.1.3 Sequence of examination

The health examination survey should follow a specified standardised sequence for accurate data collection. Informed consent should be the initial step followed by the questionnaire. This will ensure that the respondent builds trust with the interviewer/examiner and is relaxed. Stressful procedures such as bloodletting should be left to the last especially if blood pressure measurement is part of the protocol ¹³.

When blood samples are collected during the survey, it is imperative that a number of critical issues are considered ranging from the actual procedure of blood taking to storage and transport to the laboratory ¹³. In small countries there is, most likely, a short distance between the examination site and the laboratory. In this case, the survey team may decide to use appropriate blood tubes for blood collection, store under ice and transfer to the laboratory within an appropriate timeframe to avoid denaturation of the blood sample. If this is not possible, then an on-site centrifuge would need to be present to separate the serum of the blood sample and then ensure refrigerated storage. The detailed procedure can be found in the EHES manual ¹³.

2.4.2.2 Laboratory standardisation

In small countries, accredited laboratories are few. It is essential that such laboratories are identified and permissions obtained to use these facilities for analyses of the core sample measurements. Standardised protocols and cut-off points for the examined core samples need to be in place between countries to enable comparisons.

2.4.2.3 Data inputting

Data collected during the health survey needs to be in an appropriate electronic format for analysis later on. The collected data can either be immediately inputted electronically during the fieldwork or else a paper-based inputting system is used and the information inputted electronically later on. However, implementing a computer-assisted personal interviewing (CAPI) system instead of a paper-and-pencil interviewing (PAPI) system would reduce the burden of human resources and costs when conducting healthy surveys ¹⁶. In addition, CAPI presents the option of having validation routines applied at source, a feature that is not available on PAPI.

2.4.3 Permissions and ethical approval

A number of permissions need to be sought out and granted prior to initiating the health survey along with ethical approval of the survey's protocol. Permissions include but are not limited to data protection clearance for obtaining a randomised population sample, permissions to use the laboratory, permissions to access any laboratory software and permissions to set up examination sites. Informed consent forms with a detailed explanation of the aim and outcomes of the health survey along with information about storage of personal information, measurements and, if included, tissue or serum samples need to be prepared. In the case of health examination surveys, the researcher may have to decide whether to communicate the results back to the respondents, not just as a gesture of thanks for participating, but also in order for the respondent to follow up on the results, especially deranged results. One way of doing this is to communicate results to the respondents in the form of a letter addressed to their GP, highlighting any out of range values. This depends on whether the results are clinically useful or not. Certain research genetic markers may not yet have any clear clinical interpretation and the respondent may consent that they do not wish to have access to them.

A unique coding system is required, where the identifiable personal data is only accessible by the project leader. In self-administered questionnaires the unique code needs to be linked with the remaining survey measurements. This is usually performed by having the same unique code printed on all questionnaire material prior to dissemination. The self-administered questionnaire could then be detached from the face-to-face component and once the respondent finishes, the questionnaire is placed in a blank envelope, sealed and placed in a deposit box. Later on, the data is linked through the unique code. In this manner, the identifier used cannot be linked back to the respondent, but nonetheless allows linkage of the different components of the survey data. Lab results can be linked in a similar manner, once available. Nonetheless, the researcher may opt to keep it an identifiable manner, if the respondent requests to have these results sent to them.

2.5 Fieldwork preparation

2.5.1 Pilot survey

A pilot survey evaluates the survey process and ascertains that it is sustainable, as well as identifying any problems prior to the actual health survey. This is also the ideal time for the fieldworkers to practice and reduce inter-observer bias in a controlled environment. The pilot study is usually conducted on a convenient sample of around 50 individuals that were purposely selected to represent all socio-economic sectors. This is important to ensure that the questionnaire is easily understood by all the population society. Feedback from the invited participants further evaluates the survey process. Following the pilot study, amendments to the questionnaire and/or the examination protocol may be required.

2.5.2 Recruitment and training

Fieldworkers need to be competent and motivated as their characteristics can influence the response as well as the survey data validity and reliability. Proficiency in the native language/s is another requisite. Furthermore, the fieldworkers need to be competent in carrying out the clinical measurements, where applicable. Different countries will have different legislations concerning recruitments, especially of medical professionals for health surveys. Details on fieldworkers recruitment are provided in the EHES manual ¹³.

Fieldworkers should be provided a manual listing all their requirements and expectations, along with a copy of the questionnaire. Training sessions need to be held few weeks prior to the pilot study and repeated following the pilot study. In the absence of a formal pilot study, interviewers should nonetheless carry out a trial run of the questionnaire between sessions in order to bring forward any issues. If there are any recesses in the fieldwork, it would be worth repeating the training towards the end of the recess. The measurers need to practice using the validated tools prior to the fieldwork and externally evaluated by an expert third-party.

2.5.3 Marketing

A multipronged marketing approach should be adopted that includes marketing of the health survey through newspaper adverts, billboards, television adverts (ideally during prime airtime) and online, although this will depend on availability of funds. In small countries, it may be relatively easy to access the secretariat of the Minister for Health. Ministries typically have access to regular radio or television talk-show slots, and they might be willing to allow the researcher to use some of these to enhance the visibility of the survey, if such a survey is considered as aligned with the vision of the Ministry. Securing a launch event in the presence of the Minister for Health would typically ensure media attention and a dedicated reference in news bulletins and reporting. This could be very effective marketing with specific tiers of the population. The marketing should be initiated a few weeks before the start of the fieldwork and kept on-going especially during each new-wave participants' recruitment phase. Such marketing could be crucial to achieve acceptable response rates, particularly in the elderly subgroup. If the marketing is successful, one would typically start getting phone calls from volunteers who want to join the study, who would obviously be kindly turned down and explained that for the study to be valid and representative it has to restrict itself to a randomised sample.

2.6 Fieldwork

Invitation letters are to be sent out to randomly selected participants by mail at least two weeks prior the appointment or start date. The invitation letter should consist of detailed information about the health survey and its importance in providing valuable new information, how the data will be collected (through questionnaires and/or physical measurements), how the participants were selected, the confidentiality of personal details obtained during the survey as well as contact information (mobile number and e-mail) of the fieldworkers or project leader. The employed participants should also be notified that a note of absence from work would be provided to the respondents⁸. Offering a flexible appointment (time and date) enhances the response rate^{8,14}. Participants should be encouraged to contact the survey team with their decision to accept or reject the invitation for logistic purposes. The reason/s for nonresponse should be noted, if such information is available. In cases where the participants do not make contact with the survey team within an appropriate time frame, the fieldworkers should try to contact them by phone, provided a contact number is available. If a contact number is not available, a second invitation letter may be sent out. In case of health interview surveys, the fieldworkers may attempt to try to contact the participant at their home residence, although this is subject to cultural

norms. Obtaining a simple answer as to why a participant opts out of the survey can be very useful to assess selection bias between respondents and non-respondents and may thus assist with the validity of the collected data. The participants' recruitment process is outlined by the EHES manual¹³.

If a paper-based inputting system is used, the data sheets should be referred back to the coordinator immediately. Data inputting is to be done concurrently with the fieldwork to reduce the timescale of the survey. Back checking with a short phone call on approximately 15% of the respondents of successfully completed questionnaires is suggested, to monitor the conduct of the survey.

Data security is an important principle that needs to be in place throughout the fieldwork as well as after, as discussed in detail in the EHES manual ¹². During the fieldwork external quality assessment should be considered for quality assurance ^{11,12}.

5. Extraction of data

Data gathered during the health surveys (both HIS and HES) need to be in electronic format for data analysis and reporting. The electronic data needs to be validated prior to analysis in order to ensure that the data is "clean" and does not contain inappropriate data, such as weight exceeding 200Kg. Weighting for each respondent should be calculated based on the response rate in different age-gender-locality strata prior to reporting.

6. Reporting

Reporting of small countries health survey results may prove challenging due to small populations. Confidentiality needs to be a priority when reporting results on subgroups, since these might easily lead to identification of the respondent. Reports outlining the health survey outcomes should be targeted according to the audience it is being distributed to. In order to enhance visibility of the health survey results, it is essential that reports are easily accessible to researchers and the public alike. Furthermore, enrolling ministerial bodies to the launching of the survey's results will boost the visibility of such reports. Selective health survey results can be presented through activities on specific public health awareness days, such as Obesity Day, Diabetes Day etc. Such activities increase the awareness of the particular risk factor¹¹. Such results can simply be infographics that are easily and quickly shared through social media.

Ways to improving response rate:

- Continuous marketing throughout fieldwork of the health survey on the media, especially before sending out a batch of invitation letters.
- Contacting participants through mail and telephone
- Conducting interviews at the participants' house
- Setting examination hubs in each town
- Flexible appointments
- Early appointments times for elderly participants, later appointments for the younger participants
- Incentives to respondents
- SMS message prior to appointment

References:

- Ward, H; Toledano, MB, Shaddick, G; Davies, B; Elliott P. Oxford handbook of epidemiology for clinicians. Oxford University Press, https://global.oup.com/academic/product/oxford-handbook-of-epidemiologyfor-clinicians-and-oxford-handbook-of-medical-statistics-pack-9780198785071?cc=mt&lang=en&# (2016, accessed 24 September 2018).
- Kuulasmaa K, Tolonen H. What is EHES and why it is needed? THL, http://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/104395 (2013, accessed 8 December 2018).
- 3. Calleja N, Garthwaite PH. Running an international survey in a small country. Challenges and opportunities. *Public Heal Panor* 2016; 2: 292–301.
- Axelson M, Sweden S-S, Bihler W, et al. European Health Interview survey Task Force III report on sampling issues, https://circabc.europa.eu/webdav/CircaBC/ESTAT/health/Library/methodologi essandsdatasc/healthsinterviewssurvey/ehis_wave_2/development/statistical_ methodology/Task Force III report on sampling issues up to date November 2009.pdf (2009, accessed 6 December 2018).
- Heldal, J; Jentoft, S; Kuulasmaa K. Target population and sample size. EHES Manual, http://www.julkari.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/131502/URN_ISBN_978-952-302-700-8.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (2016, accessed 8 December 2018).
- Eurostat European Commission. Technical Group on Health and Health Interview Survey (HIS) Statistics, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/cros/system/files/TF HIS Report of the Task Force on institutionalised people.pdf (2011, accessed 19 December 2018).
- Eurostat European Commission. European Health Interview Survey (EHIS wave 2) Methodological manual. Luxembourg. Epub ahead of print 2013. DOI: 10.2785/43280.
- Tolonen H, Aistrich A, Borodulin K. Increasing health examination survey participation rates by SMS reminders and flexible examination times. *Scand J Public Health* 2014; 42: 712–717.

- 9. Tolonen H, Koponen P, Mindell J, et al. European Health Examination Survey-towards a sustainable monitoring system. *Eur J Public Health* 2014; 24: 338–344.
- Aromaa A, Koponen P, Tafforeau J, et al. Evaluation of Health Interview Surveys and Health Examination Surveys in the European Union. *Eur J Public Health* 2003; 13: 67–72.
- Tolonen H, Koponen P, Al-kerwi A, et al. European health examination surveys a tool for collecting objective information about the health of the population. *Arch Public Heal* 2018; 76: 38.
- Tolonen H. EHES Manual Directions Part C. European level collaboration. Helsinki, http://www.julkari.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/131504/URN_ISBN_978-952-302-702-2.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (2016, accessed 9 December 2018).
- 13. Tolonen H. EHES Manual Part B Fieldwork Procedures, http://www.julkari.fi/handle/10024/104392 (2013, accessed 21 March 2018).
- Cuschieri S, Vassallo J, Calleja N, Pace N MJ. Diabetes, pre-diabetes and their risk factors in Malta: a study profile of national cross-section prevalence study. *Glob Heal Epidemiol Genomics*; 1. Epub ahead of print 2016. DOI: 10.1017/gheg.2016.18.
- World Health Organization. NCDs | STEPwise approach to surveillance (STEPS).
 WHO, https://www.who.int/ncds/surveillance/steps/en/ (2016, accessed 6 December 2018).
- Caeyers B, Chalmers N, De Weerdt J. A Comparison of CAPI and PAPI Through a Randomized Field Experiment. SSRN Electron J. Epub ahead of print 1 November 2010. DOI: 10.2139/ssrn.1756224.